IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

No. 20-0902

POLK COUNTY ASSESSOR RANDY RIPPERGER,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

IOWA PUBLIC INFORMATION BOARD,

Defendant-Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR POLK COUNTY
THE HONORABLE JEFFREY FARRELL, PRESIDING

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

JOHN P. SARCONI

Polk County Attorney

MEGHAN L. GAVIN

Assistant Polk County Attorney
Polk County Administration Bldg.
111 Court Ave., Suite 340
Des Moines, Iowa 50309
P: (515) 286-2285
F: (515) 286-3314
Meghan.Gavin@polkcountyiowa.gov

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. Whether the board members should have disqualified themselves due to actual and perceived concerns about board members impartiality.

AUTHORITIES

Winnebago Indus., Inc. v. Haverly, 727 N.W.2d 567, 571 (Iowa 2006)

Iowa Code section 17A.17(1)(a)

Iowa Code section 17A.19(10)(e)

State v. Johnson, 744 N.W.2d 646, 649 (Iowa 2009)

Botsko v. Davenport Civil Right Comm'n, 774 N.W.2d 841, 850 (Iowa 2009)

Iowa Code section 17A.11(1)

Iowa Admin. Code r. 481—15.1

Iowa Code section 17A.17(2)

Iowa Code section 17A.17(1)(b)

Blinder, Robinson & Co., Inc. v. Goettsch, 431 N.W.2d 336, 341 (Iowa 1988)

Iowa Code section 17A.17(5)

Iowa Code section 17A.17(4)

State v. Smith, 242 N.W.2d 320, 323–24 (Iowa 1976)

Forsmark v. State, 349 N.W.2d 763, 767–68 (Iowa 1984)

II. Whether the IPIB has the burden of proof to demonstrate that the requested information is not confidential under Iowa Code section 22.7.

AUTHORITIES

Winnebago Indus., Inc. v. Haverly, 727 N.W.2d 567, 571 (Iowa 2006)

Iowa Code chapter 23

Renda v. Iowa Civil Rights Comm'n, 784 N.W.2d 8 (Iowa 2010)

2012 Iowa Acts, ch. 1115, section 4

Iowa Code section 23.10(1)

Iowa Code section 22.10(2)

Diercks v. Malin, 894 N.W.2d 12 (Iowa Ct. App. 2016)

Jahnke v. Deere & Co., 912 N.W.2d 136, 143 (Iowa 2018)

Ramirez-Trujillo v. Quality Egg, L.L.C., 878 N.W.2d 759, 770 (Iowa 2016)

State v. Mathias, 936 N.W.2d 222, 228 (Iowa 2019)

Iowa Code chapter 23.11

In re Langholz, 887 N.W.2d 770 (Iowa 2016)

Clymer v. City of Cedar Rapids, 601 N.W.2d 42, 45 (Iowa 1999)

Iowa Code chapter 23.1

III. Whether no record exists responsive to Mr. Kauffman's public records request.

AUTHORITIES

Winnebago Indus., Inc. v. Haverly, 727 N.W.2d 567, 571 (Iowa 2006)

Iowa Code section 17A.19(10)(f)

Cedar Rapids Cmty. Sch. Dist. v. Pease, 807 N.W.2d 839, 845 (Iowa 2011)

Iowa Code section 17A.19(10)(c), (m)

IV. Whether IPIB erroneously determined that a list of citizens' oral and written requests for confidentiality were not "communications" the Assessor reasonably believed citizens would be discouraged from making if they were made public.

AUTHORITIES

Winnebago Indus., Inc. v. Haverly, 727 N.W.2d 567, 571 (Iowa 2006)

Iowa Code section 17A.19(10)(c)

Iowa Code section 22.7(18)

City of Sioux City v. Greater Sioux City Press Club, 421 N.W.2d 895 (Iowa 2012)

V. Whether the safety concerns of private citizens outweighs any public interest in the release of this information.

AUTHORITIES

Winnebago Indus., Inc. v. Haverly, 727 N.W.2d 567, 571 (Iowa 2006)

Iowa Code section 23.11

In re Langholz, 887 N.W.2d 770 (Iowa 2016)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case should be retained by the Iowa Supreme Court under Iowa Rule of Appellate Procedure 6.1101(2)(c), (d). This case presents a matter of first impression and an issue of broad public importance, namely, the prosecutorial duties of the Iowa Public Information Board. As the state agency charged with advising and enforcing Iowa's Open Records and Open Meetings Acts, adjudication of the Board's burden of proof in contested cases will affect the enforcement of these Acts on every state agency, county board, municipality, and school district in the state.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Polk County Assessor Randy Ripperger filed a Petition for Judicial Review of the Iowa Public Information Board's (IPIB) decision determining that he violated Iowa's Open Records Act by refusing to release a list of property owners who had submitted oral or written requests to disable the name search function for their properties. As matter of first impression, the Assessor argues that IPIB failed to meet its burden of proof by presenting no evidence that the disputed record was not confidential under one of the articulated exceptions in the Open Records Act.

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The operative facts of this case are largely undisputed. In late March 2017, Polk County Assessor Randy Ripperger met with the Des Moines Register Editorial Staff. App. 1. Following the meeting, the Assessor and former Des Moines Register reporter Clark Kauffman exchanged emails following up on several points discussed at the meeting. App. 1. Mr. Kauffman inquired as to the number of property owners who had requested to have the name-search function for their

properties disabled on the Assessor’s website. App. 34. At some point in the exchange, Mr. Kauffman requested to examine the list of people who had submitted written requests to have the name-search function disabled and/or the written requests. App. 33. The Assessor denied the request noting that his website told property owners that their requests would remain confidential—a commitment he intended to honor—and he reasonably believed in good faith that the requests were confidential under Iowa Code section 22.7(18). App. 33.

After Mr. Kauffman was unable to change the Assessor’s mind, he emailed a complaint to the IPIB’s Executive Director Margaret Johnson on April 6, 2017. App. 35. The former Des Moines Register reporter complained that the Assessor denied him access to “the list of 2,166 **property owners who had filed written requests** with the county asking that their names be pulled from the assessor’s web site search engine.” *Id.* (emphasis added). Director Johnson was charged with conducting an investigation into the Kauffman complaint. App. 36. The sole means of investigation were

communications with the Assessor's attorney, Assistant Polk County Attorney David Hibbard. App. 94. At no time during the nine-month investigation did Director Johnson interview the Assessor, any of his employees, or any affected property owners. App. 94–98. At no time during the nine-month investigation did Director Johnson secure a copy of or inspect any written requests from property owners asking for the name-search function be disabled or a list of property owners whose names were not searchable on the Assessor's website. App. 94–95. At no time during the nine-month investigation did Director Johnson inquire into the affected property owner's employment, whether the property owners wished this information to remain confidential, or why the Assessor reasonably believed that property owners would not have made these requests had they known they would be made public. App. 95.

On January 12, 2018, Director Johnson drafted and filed a Revised Probable Cause Report recommending that the Board find probable cause that the Assessor violated the Open Records Act. App. 36. On January 18, 2018, the Board

issued a Probable Cause Order, adopting the recommendation of the Probable Cause Report and directing the prosecutor to issue a statement of charges to initiate a contested case hearing. App. 41. The Board's designated prosecutor filed a Petition to Commence a Contested Case Proceeding Before the Iowa Public Information Board on February 28, 2018, which was later amended on March 5, 2018 and January 7, 2019. App. 1.

A contested case hearing was held before Administrative Law Judge Kristine M. Dreckman on March 29, 2019. App. 44. The Board's prosecutor submitted a number of exhibits and called Mr. Kauffman as its sole witness. App. 28–43, 79. Following the minimal presentation, the Assessor moved for a directed judgment as the Board's prosecutor presented no evidence that the records were not confidential under the Open Records Act. App. 79. The motion was denied. App. 87. In his case in chief, Mr. Ripperger called the Director Johnson, Des Moines Police Sergeant Paul Parizek, former Iowa Supreme Court Justice Michael Streit, Assistant Polk County Attorney Jeffrey Noble, and clinical psychologist Dr. Heidi

Warner, PhD. The ALJ issued her proposed decision on July 19, 2019. App. 248. The ALJ found the disputed records not confidential under Iowa Code chapter 22, relying upon a novel argument not asserted by the parties and not supported by legal precedent. App. 261. The Assessor filed a timely notice of appeal to the entire board and filed a Motion to Disqualify. App. 7, 258, 274.

After additional briefing and oral arguments, IPIB affirmed the proposed decision on November 21, 2019. App. 258. The Board found that the Assessor had the burden of proof, found that the Assessor had not met his burden that the records were confidential, and refused to consider the Assessor's affirmative defenses. App. 259–60. In a separate order, the members refused to disqualify themselves as decisionmakers. App. 274. The Assessor filed a timely notice of appeal of the Board's final decision as well as the decision on the Motion for Disqualification.

The judicial review was heard by the Honorable Jeffrey Farrell. App. 299. Although the district court adopted a different legal analysis than the Board, it ultimately reached

the same conclusion—the Assessor violated the Open Meetings Law by refusing to release the names of private property owners who had requested that their properties not be searchable by name. The district court found that the IPIB did not have the statutory duty to prove that the disputed records were not confidential and found that the while the records were communications from persons outside government the Assessor’s belief that people would be deterred from making such requests if they knew they would be public was illogical. App. 316. The Assessor filed a timely notice of appeal.

Additional facts will be set forth below as necessary.

ARGUMENT

I. The Board Members Should Have Disqualified Themselves Due to Actual and Perceived Concerns About Board Members Impartiality.

A. Error Preservation and Standard of Review. The Assessor raised this issue before the district court and it was ruled upon. App. 306. “When a district court exercises its authority on judicial review, it acts in an appellate capacity to correct any errors of law by the agency.” *Winnebago Indus., Inc. v. Haverly*, 727 N.W.2d 567, 571 (Iowa 2006). This Court

applies the standards set forth in the IAPA to determine if the district court properly applied the law. *Id.*

B. Argument. Iowa Code section 17A.17(1)(a) states, “[A] presiding officer in a contested case shall not communicate directly or indirectly with any person or party in connection with any issue of fact or law in that contested case, except upon notice and opportunity for all parties to participate. . . .” Iowa Code § 17A.17(1)(a). On November 15, 2018, the IPIB heard the Assessor’s request for a prehearing conference. All parties received notice of the request and were provided an opportunity to participate in the discussion. At the conclusion of the hearing, the Board voted unanimously to allow the prosecutor and the parties to pursue informal settlement. The vote closed the hearing on the Assessor’s motion for a prehearing conference. After the Board heard the Assessor’s motion, it voted to take a short break before resuming the meeting. Members of the Board thanked the Assessor’s attorneys for attending and wished them well. The attorneys left the meeting at that time.

Unfortunately, as the audio recording of the meeting evidences, Board members and staff continued their discussion of the above-captioned case despite the conclusion of the hearing and despite the Board having gone into recess. The audio—while poor—reveals that at least two, possibly three, Board members and the Board’s Executive Director (a named witness in the case and the complaint’s sole investigator) discussed factual and legal issues surrounding the case. For example, they can be heard discussing Dave Hibbard’s previous statements about the existence of a responsive record, Iowa Code section 22.7(18), what names are on the list, whether “they did the right thing on that one,” and whether one of the members is convinced if the list is or is not a public record. The Assessor was not given advance notice of these discussions nor an opportunity to participate. Other Board members were seemingly also unaware of these discussions as they can be heard discussing other, unrelated matters during the recess. When the Board came out of recess, it immediately moved to the next item on the agenda—

further evidencing that the hearing in *this* case ended upon the Board's vote.

As a result of these communications, the Assessor respectfully requested that the Board either allow the Administrative Law Judge to serve as final arbiter or ask the Governor to appoint a substitute decisionmaker. The Board declined. In refusing, the Board erroneously misinterpreted its duty under the Iowa Administrative Procedure Act and put an untenable burden of proof on the Assessor. The Board's order should be reversed under Iowa Code section 17A.19(10)(e) as "the product of decision making undertaken by persons who were improperly constituted as a decision-making body, were motivated by an improper purpose, or were subject to disqualification."

The statutory prohibition on *ex parte* communications is broad. It prohibits a presiding officer from talking to *any* other person. The term "any" means all or every person. *State v. Johnson*, 744 N.W.2d 646, 649 (Iowa 2009). This prohibition includes other presiding officers. To interpret the statute otherwise would defeat legislative intent. Allowing presiding

officers to discuss, deliberate, and arguably prejudge a case violates the basic tenants of due process. Since no evidence had been introduced, the Board should not have been discussing any alleged facts. Since no argument had been made by the parties, the Board should not have been discussing the intricacies of Iowa Code chapter 22. Most importantly, since no contested case had been held at that time, the Board should not have been deliberating on the ultimate issue—whether the disputed record is confidential under Iowa law. The district court incorrectly noted that agency personnel could talk to each. That is true about nonsubstantive issues related to the contested case. Of course, agency personnel will talk to Board members about scheduling and other administrative matters. Adjudicators, however, cannot and should not talk to witnesses, investigators, and others about the *merits* of a pending contested case.

Contrary to the Board’s assertion, issues of fact and law were discussed during the conversation. The Board’s own prosecutor acknowledged that one of the Board members

questioned whether the requested names are public record (the ultimate issue in the case) and even mentioned the specific statutory exception at issue. App. 275. The prosecutor also asserted that a Board member made disparaging comments about the Assessor's attorneys. App. 275. Moreover, the Board and the district court wholly failed to recognize that the *perception* of fairness is equally as important to an actual conflict of interest. See *Botsko v. Davenport Civil Right Comm'n*, 774 N.W.2d 841, 850 (Iowa 2009) (quoting *Nightlife Partners, LTD., et al. v. City of Beverly Hills*, 133 Cal. Rptr. 2d 234, 242–43 (Cal Ct. App. 4th 2003) (noting that procedural due process requires “the *appearance* of fairness and the absence of even a *probability* of outside influence on the adjudication.’”) (emphasis in original)).

Board members are subject to the Iowa Code of Administrative Judicial Conduct when serving as presiding officers in a contested case proceeding. Iowa Code § 17A.11(1). Like the Iowa Code of Judicial Conduct, the Iowa Code of Administrative Judicial Conduct requires presiding officers to “uphold and promote the independence, integrity, and

impartiality of the administrative judiciary and shall avoid impropriety and the ***appearance*** of impropriety.” Iowa Admin. Code r. 481—15.1 (emphasis added). No reasonable person would expect to receive a fair hearing under these facts and circumstances.

The involvement of the Board’s Executive Director and witness in the discussion was equally problematic. Section 17A.17(2) prohibits presiding officers from discussing a pending contested case with any Board staff that personally investigated the case. While the Executive Director may not consider herself to be an investigator, she gathered all relevant information and drafted the Board’s probable cause order. She served as the investigator in this matter. Moreover, at the time of the discussions, the Director had been listed as a witness in the case and, in fact, did later testify at the contested case hearing. As such, the Director should not have had any substantive discussions with the Board on the pending case or offered them advice as to “whether they handled that one correctly.” See Iowa Code § 17A.17(1)(b);

Blinder, Robinson & Co., Inc. v. Goettsch, 431 N.W.2d 336, 341 (Iowa 1988).¹

The ex parte communications, which occurred here, have not been cured. *Id.* § 17A.17(5). To date none of the participating Board members nor the Director reported this inappropriate conversation—despite the Assessor questioning their impartiality and an affirmative statutory duty do so. *Id.* § 17A.17(4). In its refusal to disqualify, the Board noted that the Assessor did not present sufficient information about the conversations to warrant refusal. Such information, however, is not in the Assessor’s possession—nor could it be. The Board cannot have it both ways. The Board cannot refuse to disclose the nature of its conversations and simultaneously

¹ The mere fact that the Assessor happened to be present on the phone, does not make these conversations permissible. Chapter 17A and due process require notice and an opportunity to be heard. The Assessor did not have an opportunity to participate in the off-record discussions. The Board’s reliance on this happenstance is troubling. Had the Assessor not stayed on the line—unbeknownst to the Board—he would presumably not have received any notice of this discussion.

hold that there is not sufficient evidence to warrant disqualification.

When presented with a motion for recusal or disqualification, judges must make a record that discloses all relevant facts and circumstances relating to the motion and then determine whether a reasonable person with knowledge of all the facts and circumstances would conclude that the judge's impartiality could be reasonably questioned. See *State v. Smith*, 242 N.W.2d 320, 323–24 (Iowa 1976); *Forsmark v. State*, 349 N.W.2d 763, 767–68 (Iowa 1984). The Board did not do so here. The existence of this inadvertently recorded conversation calls into question whether other inappropriate communications and conversations have occurred in the year and a half this matter was pending. After all, Board members and staff were not constrained from engaging in this discussion despite the fact that it took place during a recess of a public meeting and was being recorded. Small boards are particularly susceptible to ex parte violations. The Board had an obligation to be transparent. A duty they woefully ignored.

Because the Board members should have been disqualified, the Board's order must be reversed.

II. The IPIB Has the Burden of Proof to Demonstrate that the Requested Information is Not Confidential under Iowa Code section 22.7.

A. Error Preservation and Standard of Review. The Assessor raised this issue before the district court and it was ruled upon. App. 308. This Court applies the standards set forth in the IAPA to determine if the district court properly applied the law. *Winnebago Indus., Inc.*, 727 N.W.2d at 571.

B. Argument. Throughout this litigation, the parties have disputed the appropriate burden of proof. The Board construes chapter 23 only require it to investigate and prove (1) that a public records request was made; and (2) that the government entity did not release records pursuant to that public records request. The Assessor, conversely, has and continues to argue that chapter 23 requires the Board to prove that he violated the Open Records Act. Under the plain reading of chapter 22 and 23, the Assessor cannot *violate* the Open Records Act by refusing to release records deemed confidential by the Open Records Act.

The district court incorrectly construed chapter 23 to be silent on the burden of proof. That conclusion, however, ignores the plain language of the chapter and the admission by the Board's Executive Director that public officials have no duty to release confidential records. Because it was based upon this erroneous interpretation of law whose interpretation has not clearly been vested by a provision of law in the agency's discretion, the Board's decision should be reversed under Iowa Code 17A.19(10)(c); *see Renda v. Iowa Civil Rights Comm'n*, 784 N.W.2d 8 (Iowa 2010) (discussing the rare circumstances when an agency will be afforded discretion).

While the Open Meetings and Open Records Acts share a long history in Iowa, the Board is a more recent invention. Created by chapter 23, the Board's enabling statute was passed in 2012. 2012 Iowa Acts, ch. 1115, § 4. Pursuant to Iowa Code section 23.10(1), the IPIB is required to "initiate a formal investigation" of a complaint within its jurisdiction. "[A]fter an appropriate investigation" the board shall make a "determination as to whether the complaint is within the board's jurisdiction and whether there is probable cause to

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