IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

No. 20-0902

POLK COUNTY NO. CVCV059409

POLK COUNTY ASSESSOR RANDY RIPPERGER,

Petitioner-Appellant,

v.

IOWA PUBLIC INFORMATION BOARD,

Respondent-Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR
POLK COUNTY, IOWA
THE HONORABLE JEFFREY FARRELL, PRESIDING

RESPONDENT-APPELLEE'S FINAL BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER
Attorney General of Iowa

EMILY WILLITS
Assistant Attorney General
Department of Justice
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Fl.
1305 E. Walnut St.
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
Ph: (515) 281-6403
E-mail: emily.willits@ag.iowa.gov
ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT-
APPELLEE

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE BOARD’S DECISION WAS SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE AND THE BOARD DID NOT COMMIT ANY LEGAL ERRORS.

A. Preservation of Error.

The Assessor did not plead in his petition for judicial review that the board’s decision was not supported by substantial evidence in the record under

Iowa Code section 17A.19(10)(f). *See* Petition for Judicial Review (App. 278-98) The grounds for judicial review must be plead with particularity, and the Court should not consider grounds not raised in the petition. Iowa Code § 17A.19(4)(d); *see also* *Cooksey v. Cargill Meat Sol. Corp.*, 831 N.W.2d 94, 109 (Iowa 2013) (Mansfield, J., dissenting) (observing that notice pleading is not sufficient in a petition for judicial review under section 17A.19). The Assessor preserved the remaining merits issues.

B. The Board’s factual findings were supported by substantial evidence in the record when viewed as a whole.

The Assessor argues in this judicial review proceeding that the Board did not meet its burden to prove that the Assessor violated chapter 22. Iowa Code section 23.10(3)(a), which authorizes the Board to prosecute potential violations of chapter 22 through a contested case proceeding, is silent on the burden of proof. However, the Iowa Administrative Procedure Act makes clear that in a judicial review of a contested case proceeding, the reviewing court must determine whether the agency’s factual findings are supported by “substantial evidence in the record before the court when that record is viewed as a whole.” Iowa Code § 17A.19(10)(f). The reviewing court should not reweigh the evidence or determine whether the evidence may support a different finding. *Cedar Rapids Cmty. Sch. Dist. v. Pease*, 807 N.W.2d 839, 845 (Iowa 2011). “When that record is viewed as a whole” means “that the

adequacy of the evidence in the record before the court to support a particular finding of fact must be judged in light of all the relevant evidence in the record cited by any party that detracts from that finding as well as all of the relevant evidence in the record cited by any party that supports it ...” Iowa Code § 17A.19(10)(f)(3).

The Assessor contends that a single factual finding made by the ALJ was not supported by substantial evidence: the Board’s conclusion that the actual record in controversy was the list of property owners for whom the name search function had been disabled. *See* Assessor’s Br. at 37-38; Proposed Decision at 7-8 (AR 450-51, App. 254-55); Final Decision (AR 507-08, App. 260-61). This conclusion was clearly supported by evidence in the record. In his March 28, 2017 email to the Assessor, Mr. Kauffman asked if he could “stop over sometime next week and look at the list of 2,166 property owners and/or their written requests (whichever is easier for you to produce)?” When Mr. Ripperger responded, he did not claim that no such record existed, but rather contended that the records should be kept confidential under Iowa Code section 22.7(18). This email chain was the parties’ stipulated Exhibit A in the contested case hearing and was directly quoted in the ALJ’s factual findings, which were in turn adopted by the Board. Final Decision (AR 507-08, App. 258-61); Exhibit A (AR 107, App. 30). Thus, the conclusion that the

actual record in controversy was the “list of 2,166 property owners” was supported by substantial evidence in the record.

The Assessor also suggests that the Board’s Executive Director should have conducted a more thorough investigation and that the Board’s prosecutor should have presented more evidence at the contested case hearing. *See* Appellant Br. 14, 15. The Board does not dispute that it carried the initial burden to demonstrate that the Assessor received a public records request, the Assessor declined to produce the record, and, arguably, that the record existed. *See* Final Decision (AR 507). But, as the ALJ observed in the Proposed Decision, the facts in this case are not particularly complicated. (AR 449, App. 253). The Board’s prosecutor presented evidence showing that Mr. Kauffman requested the list of 2,166 property owners; the Assessor acknowledged that such a list exists; and the Assessor declined to produce the list, citing the exemption contained in Iowa Code section 22.7(18). Exhibit A (AR 107-111, App. 30-34). Because substantial evidence in the record supports the Board’s conclusion that the record at issue was the list of properties for which the name search function had been disabled, that determination should be affirmed. Iowa Code § 17A.19(10)(f).

C. The Board’s interpretation of chapter 22 was not irrational, illogical, or unjustifiable, and the Board did not commit any legal errors.

The Assessor next contends that the Board should have allocated the burden to prove that the records were not confidential to the Board’s prosecutor. Appellant’s Br. at 30, 34. This position contradicts the body of caselaw interpreting and applying Iowa Code chapter 22.

Iowa Courts apply a presumption of openness and disclosure when interpreting the Iowa Open Records Act. *City of Riverdale v. Dierks*, 806 N.W.2d 643, 652 (Iowa 2011). The legal framework for applying the statutory exemptions to the Iowa Open Records Act contained within Iowa Code section 22.7 is well-settled. The exemptions are construed narrowly, and the party seeking to invoke one of the statutory exemptions bears the burden of demonstrating the exemption’s applicability. *Mitchell v. Cedar Rapids*, 926 N.W.2d 222, 229 (Iowa 2019). This Court has applied this well-established framework in a variety of procedural contexts. *See, e.g., Mitchell*, 926 N.W.2d at 229 (discussing that the party invoking a section 22.7 exemption bears the burden in a dispute over a protective order); *Dierks*, 806 N.W.2d at 652, 654 (discussing the same principle in a case affirming the district court’s award of attorney’s fees to the records requestor); *Clymer v. City of Cedar Rapids*, 601 N.W.2d 42, 45 (Iowa 1999) (discussing same in the context of a declaratory

judgment action brought under chapter 22); *Dierks v. Malin*, 894 N.W.2d 12, 18 (Iowa Ct. App. 2016) (discussing same in a private action brought under § 22.10). Thus, a party seeking to invoke a section 22.7 exemption bears the burden of demonstrating the exemption’s applicability in a variety of actions arising under chapter 22, not just private actions under Iowa Code section 22.10, as the Assessor suggests.

There is not any language in chapter 23 suggesting that the legislature intended to upset this well-established framework when it enacted the Iowa Public Information Board Act in 2012. *See* 2012 Acts, ch. 1115. The principle that a party invoking a section 22.7 exemption bears the burden to prove the exemption’s applicability was well-settled at the time the Board was created. *See, e.g., DeLaMater v. Marion Civil Serv. Comm’n*, 554 N.W.2d 875, 878 (Iowa 1996). If the legislature wished to modify the long-established burden shifting framework for chapter 22 cases brought by the Board, it could have done so explicitly. *Cf. Lowe’s Home Centers, LLC v. Iowa Dep’t of Rev.*, 921 N.W.2d 38, 48 (Iowa 2018) (discussing legislative inaction as “tacit approval” of a longstanding rule). In addition, it would be impractical to require the Board to bear the burden to prove an exemption’s applicability when that burden is allocated to the record custodian in other contexts. At the time a public record request is made, the lawful custodian must determine whether

there is any section 22.7 exemption that applies. The custodian cannot possibly predict how the requestor might eventually seek to enforce compliance with the statute—through a complaint to the board, a private action under section 22.10, or through a request for declaratory relief. The record custodian should anticipate at the time of the request that it may be called upon to explain why the exemption applies.

In any event, in this case the applicability of the section 22.7(18) exemption presented an application of law to fact more than a factual dispute, so the question of who bore the burden of proof is somewhat academic. The original requests received by the Assessor—whether verbally or in writing—no longer exist. *Ripperger Testimony* (AR 307, App. 187). However, the list of property owners for whom the name search function was disabled could be generated from a database. *Id.* (AR 308-09, App. 188-89). Based on those undisputed facts, the Board concluded that the exemption in 22.7(18) did not apply because the list was not a “communication” within the meaning of Iowa Code section 22.7(18). *Final Decision* (AR 507-08, App. 261-62). This application of the law to the facts of this case is not “irrational, illogical, or wholly unjustifiable,” and should be affirmed. Iowa Code § 17A.19(10)(m).

The Assessor argues that under the Board’s reasoning, a list of job applicants would be public, even though the applications themselves are

confidential under section 22.7(18). Appellant Br. at 46. There are several important distinctions between employment applications and the real property records at issue in this case. As this Court has recognized, job applications are “communications” within the meaning of Iowa Code section 22.7(18). *City of Sioux City v. Greater Sioux City Press Club*, 421 N.W.2d 895, 898 (Iowa 1988). Moreover, they fall within the category of “useful incoming communications” that might not be forthcoming if subject to disclosure. *Id.* Job applications are customarily kept confidential so that applicants do not face repercussions from their current employers as a result of searching for new employment. If government bodies were required to make employment applications public, qualified applicants might be discouraged from applying. And a job applicant would only appear on a list of applicants if the applicant had, in fact, sent in an application.

In contrast, a property owner’s information is present in the Assessor’s database simply by virtue of owning property, not due to any communication. The database itself is a public record under Iowa Code section 22.3A. Unlike employment applications, which are traditionally kept private, property records are traditionally public records. And, with regard to the property owners for whom the name search function has been disabled, there is not a perfect match between the initial “communication” and the final “list.” The

person making the request is not always the property owner. Ripperger Testimony (AR 303, App. 183). In some cases, a third party may submit the request on behalf of the property owner. *Id.* For properties with more than one owner, if one owner requests to “opt out,” the name search function is disabled for all owners. Ripperger Testimony (AR 303, App. 183). In some cases, the property owner is a commercial entity, not an individual. In fact, Mr. Kauffman testified that he was specifically interested in reviewing whether commercial entities had made use of the “opt-out” feature because he viewed that as going beyond the privacy concerns the opt-out policy was designed to address. Kauffman Testimony (AR 190-91, 198, App. 70-71, 78). Therefore, the Board’s conclusion that the database-generated list was not a “communication” within the meaning of section 22.7(18) was supported by substantial evidence in the record and was a reasonable application of the law to the facts presented in this case.

The district court affirmed the Board’s decision on an alternative ground, concluding that the database-generated list was sufficiently intertwined with the initial communications that it fell under the exemption in Iowa Code section 22.7(18). Dist. Ct. Decision at 14. The district court then moved on to the second part of Iowa Code section 22.7(18), which states that the exemption applies “to the extent that the government body receiving those

communications from such persons outside of government could reasonably believe that those persons would be discouraged from making them to that government body if they were available for general public examination.” Iowa Code § 22.7(18). The district court agreed with the Board that it was “illogical to assume the vast majority of those with safety concerns would rather be easily found in the database than merely listed [among] those who have opted out.” District Ct. Order at 15 (quoting Final Decision) (AR 509, App. 313). The district court acknowledged that the Assessor presented some evidence about legitimate safety concerns, but on balance, agreed with the Board that the release of the property owners’ names alone, without the corresponding addresses, would not generate safety concerns for most property owners. *Id.* And in fact, the Assessor’s own testimony supported this conclusion. The Assessor testified that he had received phone calls after an article appeared in the Des Moines Register about the Iowa Public Information Board case: “The following week my office received numerous phone calls from people that were on the list that wanted their name removed from the list because they were afraid that their name *and address* would be published in The Des Moines Register.” Ripperger Testimony (AR 311, App. 191) (emphasis added).

Because the Board’s decision was supported by substantial evidence in the record as a whole, and the Board did not commit any legal errors, the Board’s Final Decision should be affirmed.

D. The Assessor did not Demonstrate by Clear and Convincing Evidence that Grounds Existed to Justify a Court to Issue an Injunction Against Disclosure.

Iowa Code section 23.11 allows a respondent in a contested case proceeding brought by the Board to raise an affirmative defense that grounds exist to justify a court to issue an injunction under Iowa Code section 22.8. Iowa Code § 23.11. The respondent must demonstrate that an injunction would be warranted by clear and convincing evidence. *Id.*; *see also In re Langholz*, 887 N.W.2d 770, 776 (Iowa 2016) (discussing standard under § 22.8). Section 23.11 does not allow the Board itself to issue an injunction; it simply operates as an affirmative defense in the contested case proceeding.

In this case, the Assessor has not shown by clear and convincing evidence that an injunction would issue under Iowa Code section 22.8, as required to establish the affirmative defense. “An injunction may be issued only if the court finds both ‘the examination would clearly not be in the public interest’ and ‘the examination would substantially and irreparably injure any person or persons.’” *Iowa Film Prod. Servs. v. Iowa Dept. of Econ. Dev.*, 818 N.W.2d 207, 218 (Iowa 2012). At the contested case hearing in this case,

Mr. Kauffman explained some of the reasons he wanted to access the list of names:

It sounded to me – in reading what the County had posted online about this policy, it sounded like the policy was enacted to provide an extra measure of safety for those people who felt like they didn't want their names out there in public in terms of their address, where they lived. They wanted to make that information – recognizing that it was public information, they wanted to make it harder to access. And that was basically acknowledged on the Assessor's website. That this was the motivation behind this. But in looking at how the policy was actually implemented, it didn't seem to be confined to people who – or should I say properties where there was a Homestead Exemption claimed. So it wouldn't just be individuals who are trying to keep their home address secret, it could be landlords or slumlords, it could be developers, it could be people who have commercial or investment interest in the property. So that goes far beyond these folks who arguably might have a privacy interest in keeping their home address information harder to access.

Kauffman Testimony at 27 (AR 190, App. 70). Given these legitimate reasons for wanting access to the records, it is not clear that a court would conclude that examination would clearly not be in the public interest.

The Assessor presents arguments related to privacy, and several witnesses at the contested case proceeding discussed their personal privacy or safety concerns. As the Board acknowledged, these are compelling concerns. But it is not clear how these individuals would be substantially or irreparably injured by a release of the list of property owners whose names are not searchable in the property search database. The requested list does not include

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